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Plaintiff Mark Wheeler (“Plaintiff”), by his attorneys, makes the following allegations 

pursuant to the investigation of his counsel and based upon information and belief, except as to 

allegations specifically pertaining to himself and his counsel, which are based on personal 

knowledge. 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 
1. This class action arises from LG’s knowing sale of QuadWash-enabled dishwashers 

(“Class Dishwashers”)1 equipped with defective LED control panels (“Control Panels”) and 

identified by the following model numbers: LDF5545, LDP6797, LDT7797, LDT5665, LDT5678, 

and LDT7808 

2. LG designed Class Dishwashers with Control Panels that are “easy to see and use[,]”2 

and uniformly marketed each and every Class Dishwasher as “among the most energy-efficient in 

[their] class” and utilizing “energy- and water-saving features … [that] help reduce your energy and 

water consumptions.”3 

3. Unfortunately for consumers, each and every Control Panel—all of which are 

identical from an assembly and mechanical engineering standpoint regardless of the model in which 

they are equipped—suffer from an identical, latent, and pervasive defect in materials, workmanship, 

and/or design that eventually renders Class Dishwashers inoperable well in advance of the end of 

 
1 Plaintiffs reserve their right to expand this definition if discovery reveals the existence of additional 
models equipped with an LG Control Panel. 
2 Top Control Smart wi-fi Enabled Dishwasher with QuadWash, LG, 
https://www.lg.com/us/dishwashers/lg-LDT5678BD-top-control-dishwasher (last visited February 
20, 2022). 
3 LDT7808BD, LG, 
https://web.archive.org/web/20180331093453/https:/www.lg.com/us/dishwashers/lg- 
LDT7808BD-top-control-dishwasher (last visited February 20, 2022). 
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their expected useful life and, thus, unsuited for their ordinary and intended purpose (the “Control 

Panel Defect” or “Defect”). 

4. Specifically, the Defect allows moisture to penetrate the Control Panels, damaging 

the sensitive electronic components housed therein. When the Defect first manifests, the Control 

Panel’s buttons and/or LED display will appear to simply malfunction, either blinking the Panel’s 

various lights or shutting off completely, which can cause Class Dishwashers to stop mid-cycle or 

fail to re-start once a cycle is complete. Ultimately, the Defect renders the Control Panels 

unresponsive, and without a functioning Control Panel Class members cannot commence a wash 

cycle or use their Class Dishwashers as expected and intended. 

5. LG has been aware of the Control Panel Defect since at least 2015, when it began 

receiving complaints from consumers concerning the Defect. And on November 8, 2018, it 

acknowledged the Defect’s existence in a Service Bulletin (attached hereto as Exhibit A) made 

available only to its authorized repair technicians in which it detailed the Control Panel Defect and 

its root cause and asserted that the Defect is not present in Panels manufactured after a particular 

date. 

6. But although LG has long known, or had reason to know, that Class Dishwashers’ 

Control Panels are Defective and are unfit for their ordinary and intended purpose and incapable of 

performing as warranted, LG failed to disclose and actively concealed this material fact from 

Plaintiffs and the Class. 

7. Consumers report that any and all efforts to remedy the Control Panel Defect without 

actually replacing the Control Panel—for example, by resetting the breaker to which a Dishwasher 

is connected—offer only temporary relief, at best. In order to permanently return their Class 
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Dishwashers to proper working order, Class members must replace Control Panels with a non-

defective replacement component. 

8. Despite its longstanding knowledge of the Defect in Class Dishwashers, however, LG 

has yet to successfully remedy the Control Panel Defect: the updated Control Panels referenced in 

the 2018 TSB suffer from the very same Defect. Indeed, consumers report that their replacement 

Control Panels, which LG describes in the Service Bulletin as “improvements” designed to “prevent 

further moisture penetration,” likewise fail shortly after installation. 

9. Because LG repairs Class Dishwashers using defective Control Panels that are 

doomed to fail, its warranty offers little in the way of actual relief and fails of its essential purpose. 

Adding insult to injury, once LG’s one-year “labor and parts” warranty expires, LG claims the Defect 

does not exist, declines to provide further warranty coverage, and requires consumers who have not 

purchased an extended warranty to pay out of pocket to (temporarily) return their Class Dishwashers 

to proper working order, even if LG previously replaced the Control Panel under warranty. 

10. LG does so even though its express limited warranty requires it to provide free 

replacement electronics, including Control Panels, within five years of the purchase date. It instead 

informs complaining customers that they must agree to pay diagnostic and service fees before LG 

will provide a replacement Panel under warranty. Consumers who do not realize the extent of the 

Defect until after their warranty has expired likewise are out of luck. 

11. LG’s unlawful conduct thus placed Plaintiff and the Class between a rock and a hard 

place: once the Defect manifests, their only two options are to either purchase a new non- defective 

dishwasher to replace a Class Dishwasher for which they paid a premium or keep their Class 

Dishwasher and pay for multiple repairs. 
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12. Accordingly, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, bring this 

action to redress LG’s violations of the California Consumer Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA”), Civil 

Code §§ 1750, et seq., California’s Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”), Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, 

et seq., California’s False Advertising Law (“FAL”), Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17500, et seq.; the 

Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act (15 U.S.C. § 2301, et seq.), and also seeks recovery for breach of 

express warranty, breach of implied warranty, common law fraud, and unjust enrichment. 

THE PARTIES  

13. Plaintiff Mark Wheeler is and was at all times relevant to this complaint domiciled in 

California and a resident of Bakersfield, California. 

14. Mr. Wheeler purchased a Class Dishwasher, model LDT5678SS for personal and 

family use on November 29, 2019, from a Lowes Store located in Bakersfield, California for 

approximately $616.48. 

15. Prior to purchasing his Class Dishwasher, Mr. Wheeler researched online the wide 

variety of LG Dishwashers and reviewed LG’s website, which claimed their Class Dishwasher was 

“[a]mong the most energy-efficient dishwashers in its class” and through “energy- and water-saving 

features … [would] help reduce your energy and water consumption.”4 Neither LG, nor its agents, 

sellers, or other representatives disclosed the Control Panel Defect in the Class Dishwasher to the 

Mr. Wheeler at the point of sale or otherwise.  

16. In July of 2020, Mr. Wheeler contacted LG regarding the Control Panel Defect. LG 

concluded upon inspection that the Control Panel would need to be replaced and did so since the 

Dishwasher was still under warranty. 

 
4 LG Top Control Smart wi-fi Enabled Dishwasher with QuadWash, LG, 
https://www.lg.com/us/dishwashers/lg-ldt5678ss-top-control-dishwasher (last visited April 1, 
2022). 
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17. In February of 2021 however, only six months after replacement, Mr. Wheeler’s 

replacement Control Panel began failing, inappropriately powering on and off again during cycles. 

Upon inspection, the technician concluded that the Control Panel would need to be replaced again., 

Because the Dishwasher’s original warranty expired in November of 2021, Mr. Wheeler was left 

with a defective Dishwasher.  

18. LG is incorporated in the state of Delaware and headquartered in Englewood cliffs, 

New Jersey. LG manufactures and sells mobile devices, home entertainment devices, and home 

appliances, including dishwashers, air conditioners, and kitchen appliances.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

19. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1332(d) because there are more than 100 Class Members, the aggregate amount in controversy 

exceeds $5,000,000.00, exclusive of interest, fees, and costs, and at least one Class Member is a 

citizen of a state different from at least one Defendant.   

20. This Court also has subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ Magnuson-Moss 

Warranty Act claim, 15 U.S.C. § 2301 et seq. 

21. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1367. 

22. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because they conduct substantial 

business within California, including the sale, marketing, and advertising of the Class Dishwashers.  

A substantial portion of the events giving rise to Plaintiff’s claims occurred in this State, including 

Plaintiff’s purchase.  

23. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because Defendant does 

business throughout this District, Plaintiff purchased their Class Dishwasher in this District, and the 

Products that are the subject of the present Complaint are sold extensively in this District. 
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CLAIMS 

A. LG’s Marketing and Advertising 

24. LG markets all its appliances as top-of-the-line, efficient, and trustworthy products 

that “offer innovative solutions to make life good.” LG’s website boasts superior consumer goods 

“[w]ith intuitive, responsive controls, sleep, stylish designs, and eco-friendly features” and promises 

that their team will “be there for you every step of the way.”5  

25. According to LG, its appliances are “[c]reated to help you enjoy more of what life has 

to offer” and that LG Dishwashers will “clean your dishes faster.” Not only does LG tout its 

appliances and consumer goods, but the company also highlights its consumer support team through 

its corporate website. LG’s website ensures that their support services will “[g]et your questions 

answered about product setup, use and care, repair and maintenance issues. We can help.”6 

26. LG’s portfolio of consumer appliances includes various models of dishwashers that 

LG designs, manufactures, warrants, markets, advertises, and sells, including dishwashers equipped 

with LED Control Panels. LG sells its dishwashers through major retail stores such as Lowes, 

Amazon, Home Depot, and Best Buy, throughout the United States with retail prices ranging from 

$600 to $1,200. 

27. LG claims it designed Class Dishwashers to leave dishes “virtually spotless[,]” and 

LG’s website advertises the appliances as having not only “stellar drying and stain removal abilities”7 

but also as among the most energy efficient dishwashers available in the marketplace. Indeed, LG 

uniformly marketed each and every Class Dishwasher as “among the most energy-efficient in [their] 

 
5 LG Life’s Good, LG, https://www.lg.com/us/dishwashers (last visited February 15, 2022).  
6 Id. 
7 Dishwashers, LG, https://www.lg.com/us/dishwashers (last visited February 15, 2022).  
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class” and utilizing “energy- and water-saving features … [that] help reduce your energy and water 

consumption.”8 

28. Accordingly, LG’s ubiquitous marketing campaigns lead consumers to believe that 

Class Dishwashers are high quality, efficient, and dependable. Consequently, consumers are willing 

to pay more for LG’s dishwashers than those offered by its competitors, even when competing 

dishwashers have comparable features. 

29. However, as described throughout this Complaint, the Class Dishwashers do not work 

as advertised or promoted. Instead, the Control Panels equipped in Class Dishwashers suffer from a 

pervasive defect in materials, workmanship, and/or design that cause the Control Panels to 

malfunction, stop mid-cycle (wasting both water and energy), and inevitably render the entire 

machine inoperable. 

B. The Defect 

30. Due to the Defect in Class Dishwashers’ Control Panels—which are identical from 

an internal design, assembly, and mechanical engineering standpoint—water seeps into the Control 

Panel, resulting in shortages that cause these costly appliances to continually stop mid-cycle—not 

only prolonging the cycles, but also consuming excessive water and energy—and/or fail to re-start 

once a prior cycle has been completed, eventually rendering the Control Panel totally unresponsive 

and depriving consumers of a functioning dishwasher. 

31. One YouTube poster recorded their Dishwasher Control Panel malfunctioning as the 

lights flashed and blinked and the buttons failed to operate.9 

 
8 Soon: Top Control Dishwasher with QuadWash™ and EasyRack™ Plus, LG, 
https://web.archive.org/web/20170525074839/https:/www.lg.com/us/dishwashers/lg-LDP6797BB-top-
control- dishwasher (last visited February 15, 2022).  
9 LG Dishwasher Display Issue, YOUTUBE, 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=htLoH1wJIMM (last visited May 25, 2021).  
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32. The Defect in the Control Panel manifests during the expected useful life of the 

Dishwasher, both within and outside the applicable warranty periods. Plaintiff and consumers expect 

dishwashers to last for years, yet the Control Panel Defect can cause Class Dishwashers to fail in as 

little as few months after purchase. 

33. The Control Panel Defect is substantially likely to prevent the Class Dishwashers 

from performing their ordinary and intended purpose—washing dishes—because once the Defect 

manifests, Class Dishwashers will eventually, if not immediately, cease to function. 

34. Because the Defect often causes consumers to believe their Dishwasher has lost 

power, they often attempt to troubleshoot their appliance by resetting its assigned breaker and 

returning power to the Control Panel. 

35. However, the manual reset is at best a temporary fix because the Control Panels fail 

due to moisture penetration, which cannot be resolved by simply resetting a breaker: even if the 

Control Panel defect does not result in an immediate and complete loss of functionality because the 

Control Panel can be temporarily reset, the defective Control Panel (and the Dishwasher in which it 

is equipped) will eventually become inoperable as the following representative complaints from the 

LG website demonstrate:10 

 
10 Front Control Dishwasher with QuadWash and EasyRack Plus, LG, 
https://www.lg.com/us/dishwashers/lg-LDF5545BD-front-control-dishwasher (last visited May 25, 
2021); Front Control Smart wi-fi Enabled Dishwasher with QuadWash, LG, 
https://www.lg.com/us/dishwashers/lg-ldf5678ss-front-control-dishwasher (last visited May 25, 
2021); Top Control Smart wi-fi Enabled Dishwasher with QuadWash, LG, 
https://www.lg.com/us/dishwashers/lg-LDP6797BD-top-control-dishwasher (last visited May 25, 
2021); Front Control Dishwasher with QuadWash™ and EasyRack™ Plus, LG, 
https://www.lg.com/us/dishwashers/lg-LDF5545ST-front-control-dishwasher (last visited June 15, 
2021); Front Control Dishwasher with QuadWash™ and EasyRack™ Plus, LG, 
https://www.lg.com/us/dishwashers/lg-LDF5545WW-front-control-dishwasher (last visited June 
15, 2021). 
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36. There is only one way to permanently cure the Defect: replace the failed Control panel 

with a non-defective replacement Panel. LG, however, has yet to make available a non-defective 

Control Panel.  

C. LG’s Knowledge of the Control Panel Defect 

37. Before LG sold the Class Dishwashers, LG knew or had reason to know that the Class 

Dishwashers suffer from the Control Panel Defect, yet it made no effort to resolve the Defect prior 

to placing Class Dishwashers into the stream of commerce. 

38. Instead, LG continued to manufacture and sell Dishwashers equipped with the 

defective Control Panels, and its efforts to produce a Control Panel that resolves the Defect’s 

underlying root cause have come up short. As Plaintiff’s and the Class’s experiences show, LG’s 

purported solutions, including releasing updated service Control Panels as described in its Service 
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Bulletin, have not addressed the underlying cause of the Control Panel Defect and repeatedly have 

proven ineffective. 

39. Consumers have complained repeatedly to LG about the Control Panel Defect on 

message boards, social media, and other websites since as early as 2015, but LG refuses to properly 

address and rectify the problem and has failed and refused to reimburse customers for repairs and/or 

replacement costs. The following are a representative sampling of complaints from the LG website 

that LG has personally responded to, thereby demonstrating its awareness of both the Defect’s 

existence and its effect on consumers:11 

 

 

 
11 Front Control Dishwasher with QuadWash and EasyRack Plus, LG, 
https://www.lg.com/us/dishwashers/lg-LDF5545BD-front-control-dishwasher (last visited May 25, 
2021); Front Control Dishwasher with QuadWash™ and EasyRack™ Plus, LG, 
https://www.lg.com/us/dishwashers/lg-LDF5545ST-front-control-dishwasher (last visited June 15, 
2021); Front Control Dishwasher with QuadWash™ and EasyRack™ Plus, LG, 
https://www.lg.com/us/dishwashers/lg-LDF5545WW-front-control-dishwasher (last visited June 
15, 2021). 
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40. The following exemplar consumer complaints posted to LG’s own forums similarly 

demonstrate its years’-long knowledge of the Control Panel Defect.12 

 

 

 

 

 
12 Front Control Dishwasher with QuadWash and EasyRack Plus, LG, 
https://www.lg.com/us/dishwashers/lg-LDF5545SS-front-control-dishwasher (last visited February 
14, 2022); Top Control Smart wi-fi Enabled Dishwasher with QuadWash, LG, 
https://www.lg.com/us/dishwashers/lg-LDP6797BD-top-control-dishwasher (last visited February 
14, 2022). 
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41. Consumers likewise have complained of the Control Panel Defect en masse on third-

party websites such as Amazon, Home Depot, Lowes, Consumer Affairs, and BestBuy. Several 

exemplar complaints are transcribed below:13  

 
13 LG QuadWash 48-Decibel Front Control 24-in Built-In Dishwasher (Stainless Steel) ENERGY 
STAR, LOWE’S, https://www.lowes.com/pd/LG-QuadWash-48-Decibel-Filtration-Built-In-
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Dishwasher-Stainless-Steel-Common-24- in-Actual-23-75-in-ENERGY-STAR/1000079907 (last 
visited June 14, 2021); 
LG Dishwasher, CONSUMER AFFAIRS, 
https://www.consumeraffairs.com/homeowners/lg-dishwasher.html?page=6#sort=oldest&filter=1 
(last visited June 16, 2021); 
LG - 24" Front-Control Built-In Dishwasher with Stainless Steel Tub, QuadWash, 48 dBa - 
PrintProof Black Stainless Steel, BEST BUY, https://www.bestbuy.com/site/lg-24-front-control-
built-in-dishwasher-with-stainless-steel-tub- quadwash-48-dba-printproof-black-stainless-
steel/5847000.p?skuId=5847000 (last visited June 15, 2021); LG LDP6797ST Tall Tub
 Top Control Stainless Steel Dishwasher LDP6797ST, AMAZON, 
https://www.amazon.com/LG-LDP6797ST-Control-Stainless- 
Dishwasher/dp/B077ZGFNW3/ref=cm_cr_arp_d_bdcrb_top?ie=UTF8 (last visited June 14, 2021); 
LG 44-Decibel Built-in Dishwasher (Stainless Steel) (Common: 24 Inch; Actual: 23.75-in) 
ENERGY STAR, LOWE’S, https://www.lowes.com/pd/LG-44-Decibel-Built-in-Dishwasher-
Stainless-Steel-Common-24-Inch-Actual-23-75-in- ENERGY-STAR/1000218883 (last visited 
June 14, 2021). 
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42. Although LG does not operate these third-party websites, it routinely monitors class 

member complaints and review posted thereto as the following screenshots demonstrate:14 

 

 

 

 

 
14 Top Control Tall Tub Smart Dishwasher with WiFi Enabled in Black Stainless Steel with 
Stainless Steel Tub, 46 dBA, THE HOME DEPOT, https://www.homedepot.com/p/LG-Electronics-
Top-Control-Tall-Tub-Smart-Dishwasher- with-WiFi-Enabled-in-Black-Stainless-Steel-with-
Stainless-Steel-Tub-46-dBA-LDT5665BD/301980625 (last visited June 14, 2021); 
24 in. Stainless Steel Top Control Built-In Tall Tub Smart Dishwasher with Stainless Steel Tub and 
3rd Rack, 44 dBA, THE HOME DEPOT, https://www.homedepot.com/p/LG-Electronics-24-in-
Stainless-Steel-Top-Control-Built- In-Tall-Tub-Smart-Dishwasher-with-Stainless-Steel-Tub-and-
3rd-Rack-44-dBA-LDP6797ST/207170190 (last visited June 14, 2021); 
LG QuadWash 48-Decibel Front Control 24-in Built-In Dishwasher (Stainless Steel) ENERGY 
STAR, LOWE’S, https://www.lowes.com/pd/LG-QuadWash-48-Decibel-Filtration-Built-In-
Dishwasher-Stainless-Steel-Common-24- in-Actual-23-75-in-ENERGY-STAR/1000079907 (last 
visited June 14, 2021); 
LG QuadWash Smart Wi-Fi Enabled 44-Decibel Top Control 24-in Built-In Dishwasher (Stainless 
Steel) ENERGY STAR, LOWE’S, https://www.lowes.com/pd/LG-QuadWash-Smart-Wi-Fi-
Enabled-44-Decibel-Filtration-Built-In- Dishwasher-Stainless-Steel-Common-24-in-Actual-23-75-
in-ENERGY-STAR/1000196231 (last visited June 14, 2021); 
LG - 24" Top Control Smart Wi-Fi Enabled Dishwasher with QuadWash and Stainless Steel Tub - 
Stainless steel, BEST BUY, https://www.bestbuy.com/site/reviews/lg-24-top-control-smart-wi-fi-
enabled-dishwasher-with- quadwash-and-stainless-steel-tub-stainless-
steel/5714463?rating=1&sort=OLDEST (last visited June 14, 2021). 
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43. LG also gained exclusive and superior knowledge of the Control Panel defect before 

Plaintiff and the Class purchased the Class Dishwashers through a variety of additional sources 

unavailable to consumers, including warranty claims made to LG and its sellers, and LG’s pre- and 

post-release testing of Class Dishwashers and their constituent components. Indeed, LG tracks 

warranty repairs in order to identify emerging defect trends, and as an experienced manufacturer of 

consumer appliances, it tests each and every component, including Control Panels, prior to approved 

them for use in units destined for retail sale.  

44. LG’s longstanding knowledge of the Control Panel Defect is best evidenced by the 

Service Bulletin it issued in 2018. 

45. As numerous courts have recognized, manufacturers issue service bulletins— through 

which manufacturers acknowledge defects in their products and provide repair instruction therefor—

long after they learn of a defect, and only after careful consideration and extensive analysis of a 

product quality issue’s underlying root cause. 
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46. On November 8, 2018, LG issued a Service Bulletin to correct the Control Panel 

Defect in various models, including models LDF5545, LDT5665, LDP6797, LDT7797, LDT5678, 

LDF5678, and LDT7808. (Exhibit A). The 2018 Service Bulletin provided a purported solution to 

the Control Panel Defect, one that implicitly acknowledges the Defect’s underlying root cause: an 

“improved” part with “additional silicone coating on the side [to prevent] further moisture 

penetration” into the dishwasher. 

47. The 2018 Service Bulletin also acknowledges that each and every Control Panel 

equipped in a Class Dishwasher suffers from, and eventually fails due to, the Defect alleged herein. 

48. Given that Service Bulletins are only issued after a significant number of complaints 

are made and a lengthy investigation is undertaken, it is clear that LG was aware of the Control Panel 

Defect in the Class Dishwashers well before November 2018. 

49. However, the Control Panel update provided to consumers did not resolve the Control 

Panel Defect, but instead proved equally ineffective. As evidenced by continual consumer 

complaints, even after repairs using an updated component, Class Dishwashers continue to stop mid-

cycle or completely lose power after a cycle, Control Panel buttons continue to malfunction, and 

Dishwashers are rendered entirely inoperable. To correct the Control Panel Defect, the Class 

Dishwashers require Control Panels that are not susceptible to moisture penetration that corrodes 

internal circuitry. 

D. Plaintiff’s and the Class’s Reasonable Expectations  

50. Plaintiff and the Class expected the Class Dishwashers to operate for years in 

accordance with their intended and ordinary purpose: to complete a load of dishes without stopping 

half-way through or requiring either a manual reset of the Control Panel or a complete replacement 

of the Control Panel in order to function properly (let alone at all).  
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51. Plaintiff and the Class also reasonably expected LG to disclose the existence of the 

Control Panel Defect that was known to LG at the time of sale and the true features of the Class 

Dishwashers. Specifically, LG was duty-bound, but failed to disclose that the Class Dishwashers 

would stop washing dishes mid-cycle, wasting water and energy, fail to restart following a cycle, or 

fail to complete a cycle due to the Control Panel Defect, eventually resulting in an inoperable Control 

Panel that would not properly function unless it was manually reset or entirely replaced. 

52. Because of the Control Panel Defect, Plaintiff’s and the Class’s Class Dishwashers 

failed during their expected useful lives—often within a year of purchase—and otherwise failed to 

work in accordance with LG’s representations, within or outside applicable warranty periods. 

53. As a result of the Control Panel Defect, Plaintiff’s and the Class’s Dishwashers failed, 

depriving Plaintiff and Class members of the benefit of their bargain, and imposing on them actual 

damages including repair and/or replacement costs, time spent in arranging and obtaining repairs and 

warranty coverage, and inconvenience. 

E. LG’s Deficient Warranty Performance 

54. LG warrants every Class Dishwasher for repairs needed to correct defects in materials 

and/or workmanship. An exemplar copy of the warranty booklet included with all Class Dishwashers 

is appended here as Exhibit B. 

55. LG provides a Limited Warranty for the Class Dishwashers covering “defect[s] in 

materials or workmanship under normal home use…”15 During the specified one-year warranty 

period, LG will, at its option, repair or replace specific parts. For example, the express limited 

warranties. Plaintiff received from LG a one-year warranty for labor and parts generally, a five-year 

 
15 Owner’s Manual Dishwasher, LG, 
https://www.lg.com/us/support/products/documents/Owners%20Manual_.pdf (last visited May 25, 
2021). 
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warranty for the electronics and racks, a ten-year warranty for the Direct Drive motor, and a limited 

lifetime warranty for the tub.16 

56. The Control Panel Defect arises from defective materials, workmanship, and/or 

design in the Class Dishwashers and is therefore covered under LG’s Limited Warranty. Yet LG has 

refused to fix the Control Panel Defect. Instead, when consumers like Plaintiff have their Class 

Dishwashers repaired, (1) they are told that the Control Panel Defect is either not covered by the one-

year parts and labor Warranty and are charged for service; or (2) are provided with an equally 

defective replacement Control Panel that ultimately also fails, and which LG then refuses to replace 

at no-cost because the one-year parts and labor Warranty has expired. 

57. Consistent with Plaintiff’s experience, LG also will not provide replacement Control 

Panels pursuant to its five-year electronics warranty unless consumers pay unreasonable and 

unnecessary diagnostic and service fees, thereby breaching the warranty it issues with respect to 

electronic components like the Control Panel. 

58. LG also was aware, had reason to know, or was reckless in not knowing that its 

warranty repairs would not cure or rectify the Control Panel Defect. By providing such ineffective 

warranty repairs—as the experiences of Plaintiff and other absent Class members demonstrate— LG 

merely postponed the failure of the Class Dishwasher Control Panels until after the expiration of 

applicable warranties, causing its express limited warranty to fail of its essential purpose. 

59. Despite the purported solutions provided in the Service Bulletin, the same models, as 

well as additional, newer models, have continued to suffer from the Control Panel Defect in the 

Control Panel. LG’s purported fixes simply have proven inadequate. 

60. LG’s refusal to honor its warranty obligations shifts the costs of the Control Panel 

Defect onto its consumers, who must pay to repair and replace their defective Class Dishwashers. 

 
16 Id. 
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61. Furthermore, Defects that arise in Class Dishwasher’s outside the warranty’s limited 

duration should nonetheless be remedied by LG at no cost because the warranty is procedurally and 

substantively unconscionable. Therefore, when the Control Panel Defect arises, LG must be estopped 

from denying warranty claims on the grounds that the warranty has expired or by relying on remedial 

limitations contained therein. 

62. The Class Dishwasher warranty is procedurally unconscionable because: 

i. Consumers did not have a meaningful opportunity to participate in creating 

the warranty. 

ii. LG is a nationally operating enterprise with substantial market power to 

dictate the terms of the warranty to consumers. 

iii. LG created the warranty with a one-year term that consumers had no choice 

or ability to alter. 

iv. LG offered the warranty to consumers on a “take-it-or-leave-it” basis. 

63. The Class Dishwasher warranty is substantively unconscionable because: 

i. The Class Dishwashers are a durable good. 

ii. It is material to a reasonable consumer that the Class Dishwashers last a 

significant period of time without needing repair or replacement. 

iii. Upon information and belief, LG has, at all relevant times, had superior 

knowledge regarding the Class Dishwashers lack of durability due to its 

control over the design, manufacture, and/or testing of the Class Dishwashers. 

iv. Upon information and belief, LG has had superior knowledge regarding the 

Class Dishwashers lack of durability as a result of consumer complaints and 

warranty claims as early as 2015. 
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v. Despite LG’s superior knowledge of the existence of the Control Panel Defect 

and the likelihood the Control Panel Defect will manifest after one-year, LG 

refused to replace failed Control Panels under its one-year parts and labor 

warranty, instead continuing to charge customers for labor to replace a known 

defective part, charges that eventually will exceed the cost of Class 

Dishwashers themselves. 

vi. LG’s warranty fails of its essential purpose because LG cannot cure the 

Defect. 

64. Due to the reasons explained above, no reasonable consumer would enter into an 

agreement with such terms.  

65. Accordingly, LG’s warranty is unconscionable, and LG must be stooped from 

enforcing it against Class members. 

F. LG Conceals the Control Panel Defect and Continues Selling Defective Dishwashers 

66. LG marketed its Class Dishwashers as highly rated, efficient, and reliable appliances 

with a “wide range of features.”17 Further describing all LG dishwashers as “[d]esigned to give you 

the cleaning power you need and the peace and quiet you want, many of our dishwashers are among 

the quietest in their class.”18 

67. However, LG failed to adequately design, manufacture, and/or test the Class 

Dishwashers to ensure they were free from defects. 

 
17 Dishwasher, LG, https://web.archive.org/web/20170129071027/ 
http:/www.lg.com/us/dishwashers (last visited February 20, 2022). 
 
18 Id. 
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68. LG knew, had reason to know, or was reckless in not knowing of the Control Panel 

Defect in the Control Panel when it uniformly warranted, advertised, marketed, and sold the Class 

Dishwashers to Plaintiff and the Class. 

69. Despite its longstanding knowledge of the Control Panel Defect, LG did not disclose 

to consumers the fact that the Control Panel Defect existed at the time of sale and that the Control 

Panel Defect would render the Class Dishwashers unable to perform as expected and intended well 

before the end of their expected useful lives. Nor did LG disclose that repairs would neither cure nor 

remedy the Control Panel Defect and would only, at best, briefly delay the impact of the Control 

Panel Defect and thereby postpone failures in the Class Dishwashers. 

70. LG knew that consumers were unaware of the Control Panel Defect and that Plaintiff 

and the Class reasonably expected the Class Dishwashers to complete dishwasher cycles without 

pausing midway or requiring a manual reset or complete replacement of the Control Panel to retain 

functionality. 

71. LG also knew that consumers expected LG to disclose the Control Panel Defect that 

prevented the Class Dishwashers from performing their ordinary purpose long before the end of their 

expected useful lives, and that such disclosure would impact consumers’ decisions concerning 

whether to purchase the Class Dishwashers at the price that they paid for the Class Dishwashers. LG 

knew and intended for consumers to rely on its material omissions with regard to the Control Panel 

Defect when purchasing the Class Dishwashers. 

72. As a result of LG’s uniform omissions and misrepresentations in its marketing and 

advertising, Plaintiff and the Class believed that the Class Dishwashers they purchased would operate 

as expected and intended, and Plaintiff and the Class purchased Class Dishwashers in reliance on 

that belief. 
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73. LG actively concealed from and/or failed to disclose to Plaintifs and the Class, the 

true defective nature of the Class Dishwashers, and failed to remove the Class Dishwashers from the 

marketplace or take adequate remedial action. LG represented that the Class Dishwashers were free 

of defects even though it knew, or was reckless in not knowing, when it sold the Class Dishwashers 

that they contained a Control Panel Defect that would render the Class Dishwashers practically 

unusable. 

74. As a consequence of LG’s actions and inaction, Plaintiff and the Class have been 

deprived of the benefit of their bargain, lost use of the Class Dishwashers, and incurred lost time and 

costs, including repair and/or replacement costs, time spent in arranging and obtaining repairs, and 

inconvenience. 

FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT 

75. LG made material omissions concerning the Control Panel Defect by not fully and 

truthfully disclosing to its consumers the true nature of the Class Dishwashers. A reasonable 

consumer would not have known about the Control Panel Defect. Indeed, LG issued a Service 

Bulletin to dealers of Class Dishwashers, though not consumers, in November 2018 regarding the 

Control Panel Defect. 

76. LG made these omissions with knowledge of their falsity and with the intent that 

Plaintiff and the Class would rely upon them. 

77. The facts concealed, suppressed, and not disclosed by LG to Plaintiff and the Class 

are material in that a reasonable consumer would have considered them to be material in deciding 

whether to purchase the dishwashers at all or at the offered price. 

78. LG had a duty to disclose the true quality of the Class Dishwashers because the 

knowledge of the Control Panel Defect and its details were known and/or accessible only to LG; LG 

had superior knowledge and access to the relevant facts; and LG knew the facts were not known to, 
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or reasonably discoverable by, Plaintiff and the Class. LG also had a duty to disclose because it made 

affirmative representations about the qualities and reliability of its Class Dishwashers, as set forth 

above, which were misleading, deceptive, and incomplete without the disclosure of the additional 

facts set forth above regarding the Control Panel Defect. 

79. LG concealed this material information for the purpose of inducing Plaintiff and the 

Class to purchase the defective Class Dishwashers at full price rather than purchasing competitors’ 

dishwashers or paying LG less for the Class Dishwashers, given their limited utility. Had Plaintiff 

and the Class known about the defective nature of the Class Dishwashers, they would not have not 

purchased them or would have paid less for the Class Dishwashers. Thus, Plaintiff and the Class 

were fraudulently induced to purchase the Class Dishwashers containing the Control Panel Defect. 

TOLLING OF STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS 

80. LG’s knowing and active concealment and denial of the facts alleged herein have 

tolled any applicable statute(s) of limitations. 

81. Plaintiff and the Class could not have reasonably discovered the true facts regarding 

the Class Dishwashers, including the latent Control Panel Defect, until shortly before this litigation 

commenced. 

82. Even after Plaintiff and the Class contacted LG for repairs and replacement as the 

result of the Control Panel Defect, LG routinely informed its consumers that the Class Dishwashers 

were not defective and that the Class Dishwashers were functioning normally. 

83. LG was, and remains under, a continuing duty to disclose to Plaintiff and the Class 

the true facts concerning the Class Dishwashers, i.e. that the Class Dishwashers suffer from the 

Control Panel Defect due to defects in materials and/or workmanship, and failings described above, 

that require increased expenses to repair or replace the Class Dishwashers. 
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84. As a result of LG’s active concealment of and breach of its duty to disclose the 

existence of the Control Panel Defect, any and all applicable statute(s) of limitations otherwise 

applicable to the allegations herein have been tolled. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

85. Plaintiff brings this action on his own behalf, and on behalf of the following Class, 

pursuant to FED. R. CIV. P. 23(a), 23(b)(2), and/or 23(b)(3). Specifically, the Class is defined as: 

Nationwide Class: 
All persons or entities in the United States who purchased one or more LG Class 
Dishwashers. 

 
Or, in the alternative, 

California Subclass: 
All persons or entities in California who purchased one or more LG Class Dishwashers. 
 
86. Together, the Nationwide Class, and the California Subclass shall be collectively 

referred to herein as the “Class.” Excluded from the Class are LG, its affiliates, employees, officers 

and directors, persons or entities that purchased the Class Dishwashers for purposes of resale, and 

the Judge(s) assigned to this case. Plaintiff reserves the right to modify, change or expand the Class 

definition after conducting discovery. 

87. Numerosity. The Class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable. 

While the exact number and identities of individual members of the Class are unknown at this time, 

such information being in the possession of LG and obtainable by Plaintiff only through the 

discovery process, Plaintiff believes that the Class consists of hundreds of thousands, if not millions, 

of persons and entities that were deceived by LG’s conduct. 
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88. Existence and Predominance of Common Questions of Fact and Law. Common 

questions of fact and law exist as to all members of the Class. These questions predominate over the 

questions affecting individual Class Members. These common factual and legal questions include, 

but are not limited to: 

i. Whether LG misrepresented the quality of the Class Dishwashers; 

ii. Whether the Class Dishwashers had a Control Panel Defect causing the 

Control Panel to malfunction, and result in the Class Dishwashers stopping 

mid-cycle or failing entirely. 

iii. Whether LG omitted the Control Panel Defect from its disclosure of the 

properties of the Class Dishwashers to consumers; 

iv. Whether LG’s conduct violated the CLRA 

v. Whether LG’s conduct violated the UCL 

vi. Whether LG’s conduct violated the FAL 

vii. Whether LG’s conduct violated the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act; 

viii. Whether LG breached its express warranties to the Class 

ix. Whether LG breached its implied warranties to the Class 

x. Whether LG’s conduct resulted in unlawful common law fraud 

xi. Whether LG’s conduct resulted in it receiving unjust enrichment at the 

expense of Plaintiff and the Class; and 

xii. Whether Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to monetary damages and/or other 

remedies and, if so, the nature of any such relief. 
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89. Typicality. All of Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class since each 

Class Dishwasher was advertised with the same type of false and/or misleading statements, 

regardless of model or production year. Plaintiff and the Class sustained monetary and economic 

injuries including, but not limited to, ascertainable losses arising out of LG’s wrongful conduct. 

Plaintiff is advancing the same claims and legal theories on behalf of himself and all absent Class 

Members. 

90. Adequacy. Plaintiff is an adequate Class representative because his interests do not 

materially or irreconcilably conflict with the interests of the Class that he seeks to represent, he has 

retained counsel competent and highly experienced in complex class action litigation, and he intends 

to prosecute this action vigorously. The interests of the Class will be fairly and adequately protected 

by Plaintiff and his counsel. 

91. Superiority. A class action is superior to all other available means of fair and efficient 

adjudication of the claims of Plaintiff and the Class. The injury suffered by each individual Class 

Member is relatively small in comparison to the burden and expense of individual prosecution of the 

complex and extensive litigation necessitated by LG’s conduct. It would be virtually impossible for 

members of the Class individually to effectively redress the wrongs done to them. Even if the 

members of the Class could afford such individual litigation, the court system could not. 

Individualized litigation presents a potential for inconsistent or contradictory judgments. 

Individualized litigation increases the delay and expense to all parties and to the court system 

presented by the complex legal and factual issues of the case. By contrast, the class action device 

presents far fewer management difficulties, and provides the benefits of single adjudication, 

economy of scale, and comprehensive supervision by a single court. Members of the Class can be 

readily identified and notified based on, inter alia, LG’s records and databases. 
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92. LG has acted, and refused to act, on grounds generally applicable to the Class, thereby 

making appropriate final injunctive and equitable relief with respect to the Class as a whole.  

VIOLATIONS ALLEGED 
COUNT I 

BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY 
(On Behalf of the Nationwide Class, or in the alternative, the California  Subclass) 

93. Plaintiff repeats the allegations contained in the paragraphs above as if fully set forth 

herein. 

94. Plaintiff brings this Count individually and on behalf of the members of the Class and 

subclasses. 

95. LG expressly warranted Plaintiff and the Class’s Dishwashers against “defect[s] in 

materials or workmanship under normal home use.” Under the warranty, LG will repair or replace 

the dishwasher parts free of charge for defects that occurred during the one-year warranty period. 

LG will also repair or replace the electronics and dishwasher racks free of charge for defects that 

occurred during the five-year warranty period and repair or replace the dishwasher motor free of 

charge for defects that occurred during the ten-year warranty period. 

96. These warranties became part of the basis of the bargain between the parties and 

created collective express warranties that the Class Dishwashers would conform to LG’s affirmations 

and promises. Under the terms of these express warranties, LG is obligated to repair or replace the 

Class Dishwashers sold to Plaintiff and the Class. 

97. The parts affected by the Control Panel Defect were manufactured and distributed by 

LG in the Class Dishwashers and are covered by the warranties LG provided all purchasers of Class 

Dishwashers. 

98. LG breached these warranties by selling Class Dishwashers with the Control Panel 

Defect, requiring repair or replacement within the applicable warranty periods, and refusing to honor 
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the warranties by providing free, effective repairs or replacements during the applicable warranty 

periods. 

99. As a result of LG’s inability to remedy the Control Panel Defect, LG’s warranties fail 

of their essential purpose. 

100. Plaintiff and the Class also notified LG of the breach within a reasonable time, and/or 

were not required to do so because affording LG a reasonable opportunity to cure its breach of written 

warranty would have been futile. LG also knew of the Control Panel Defect and yet chose to conceal 

it and to fail to comply with their warranty obligations. 

101. As a direct and proximate cause of LG’s breach, Plaintiff and the Class bought Class 

Dishwashers they otherwise would not have, overpaid for their dishwashers, did not receive the 

benefit of their bargain, and their Class Dishwashers suffered a diminution in value. Plaintiff and the 

Class have also incurred and will continue to incur costs for repair and incidental expenses. 

102. LG’s attempt to disclaim or limit these express warranties vis-à-vis consumers is 

unconscionable and unenforceable under the circumstances here. Specifically, LG’s warranty 

limitation is unenforceable because they knowingly sold a defective product without informing 

consumers about the Control Panel Defect. 

103. The time limits contained in LG’s warranty period were also unconscionable and 

inadequate to protect Plaintiff and the Class. Among other things, Plaintiff and the Class had no 

meaningful choice in determining these time limitations the terms of which unreasonably favored 

LG. A gross disparity in bargaining power existed between LG and the Class, and LG knew or should 

have known that the Class Dishwashers were defective at the time of sale and would fail well before 

their useful lives. 
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104. Plaintiff and the Class have complied with all obligations under the warranty, or 

otherwise have been excused from performance of said obligations as a result of LG’s conduct 

described herein. 

105. As a direct and proximate result of LG’s breach of express warranties, Plaintiff and 

the Class have suffered damages, injury in fact, and ascertainable loss in an amount to be determined 

at trial, including repair and replacement costs and damage to other property. 

106. Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to legal and equitable relief against LG, including 

damages, consequential damages, specific performance, attorney fees, costs of suit, and other relief 

as appropriate. 

COUNT II 
BREACH OF IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY 

(On Behalf of the Nationwide Class, or in the alternative, the California Subclass) 
107. Plaintiff and the Class re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations contained 

in all preceding paragraphs of this Class Action Complaint as though set forth fully herein. 

108. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the National Class, or, in the 

alternative, on behalf of the State Classes against LG. Plaintiff’s individual claims are brought under 

the laws of their home states. 

109. LG made an implied warranty to the Plaintiff and the Class that Class Dishwashers 

were or merchantable quality and suitable for their ordinary and intended purpose. 

110. Through the conduct alleged herein, LG has breached the implied warranty of 

merchantability. The defectively designed Class Dishwashers are not fit for the ordinary and intended 

purpose for which Plaintiff and the Class purchased them to perform: to complete a dish washing 

cycle, and so in an energy efficient manner. LG knew that Plaintiff and the Class were purchasing 

the Class Dishwashers for this purpose and marketed the Class Dishwashers for this purpose. 

111. Plaintiff and the Class relied on LG’s misrepresentations by purchasing the Class 

Dishwashers.  
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112. LG knew or had reason to know that Plaintiff and the Class were influenced to 

purchase the Class Dishwashers through LG’s expertise, skill, judgement, and knowledge in 

furnishing the Products for their intended use. The Class Dishwashers were not merchantable quality 

and were not fit for their ordinary purpose because the defects in materials and/or workmanship 

alleged herein render them incapable of being able to complete a wash cycle without interruption 

and in an energy efficient manner. 

113. LG’s actions, as complained of herein, breached their implied warranty that the Class 

Dishwashers were of merchantable quality as fit for such use, in violation of the UCC, the common 

law of this State, as well as the common law and statutory laws of other states. 

LG has failed to provide. 

114. LG has failed to provide adequate remedies under its written express warranty, which 

has caused the express warranty to fail its essential purpose, thereby permitting remedies under 

implied warranties. 

115. LG has not sufficiently disclaimed the implied warranty of merchantability 

(specifically and conspicuously). 

116. Further, the purported remedial limitations in the warranty, including limiting the 

“exclusive remedy” to repairs using identically defective components, are procedurally and 

substantively unconscionable and thus fail under UCC § 2-302, as adopted by California. LG knew 

or should have known that the Control Panel Defect renders Class Dishwashers susceptible to 

premature failure, and that LG had unequal bargaining power and misrepresented Class 

Dishwashers’ reliability, and the limited remedies unreasonably favor LG and fail Plaintiff’s 

reasonable expectations. 

117. LG was and is in privity with Plaintiff and the Class by law and/or by fact. 
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118. First, Plaintiff has had sufficient direct dealings with LG and/or its authorized dealers, 

franchisees, representatives, and agents to establish privity of contract. 

119. Second, Plaintiff and the Class are intended third-party beneficiaries of contracts, 

including express warranties, between LG and its dealers, franchisees, representatives and agents; 

LG’s advertisements were aimed at Plaintiff and the Class members, and LG’s warranties were 

expressly written for the benefit of Plaintiff and Class members as end users of Class Dishwashers. 

LG’s authorized dealers, franchisees, representatives, and agents, on the other hand, were not 

intended to be the ultimate consumers of Class Dishwashers and have no rights under the warranty 

agreements provided by LG; these intermediaries entities made no changes to LG’s product, nor 

made any additions to the warranties issued by Defendant. 

120. Third, LG is estopped from limiting claims for common law and statutory violations 

based on a defense of lack of privity. 

121. Plaintiff and the Class have incurred damage as described herein as a direct and 

proximate result of the failure of LG to honor its implied warranty. In particular, Plaintiff and the 

Class would not have purchased the Class Dishwashers had they known the truth about their defects; 

nor would they have suffered the damages associated with these defects. 

122. Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to damages, as well as reasonable attorneys’ fees 

and costs.  

COUNT III 
BREACH OF WRITTEN WARRANTY UNDER THE MAGNUSON-MOSS 

WARANTY ACT (15 U.S.C. 2301, et seq.) 
(On Behalf of the Nationwide Class, or in the alternative, the California Subclass) 

123. Plaintiff and the Class re-allege and incorporate by reference each preceding and 

succeeding paragraph as though fully set forth at length herein. 

124. Plaintiff and the Class are “consumers” within the meaning of the Magnuson-Moss 

Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2301(3).  
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125. LG is a “supplier” and “warrantor” within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § §2301(4)-(5). 

126. The Class Dishwashers are “consumer products” within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 

2301(1).  

127. LG’s warranties are “written warranties” within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. §2301(6). 

128. LG breached the express warranties by refusing and/or failing to honor the express 

warranties by repairing or replacing, free of charge, the defective Class Dishwashers. 

129. Plaintiff and the Class relied on the existence and length of the express warranties in 

deciding whether to purchase the Class Dishwashers. 

130. LG’s breach of the express warranties has deprived Plaintiff and the Class of the 

benefit of their bargain. 

131. The amount in controversy of Plaintiff’s individual claims meets or exceeds the sum 

or value of $25.00. In addition, the amount in controversy meets or exceeds the sum or value of 

$50,000 (exclusive of interests and costs) computed on the basis of all claims to be determined in 

this suit. 

132. LG has been afforded a reasonable opportunity to cure its breach of the written 

warranties and/or Plaintiff and the Class were not required to do so because providing LG a 

reasonable opportunity to cure its breach of written warranties would have been futile. LG was also 

on notice of the Control Panel Defect from the complaints and service requests it received from 

Plaintiff and the Class, as well as from its own warranty claims, customer complaint data, and/or 

parts sales data. 

133. As a direct and proximate cause of LG’s breach of the written warranties, Plaintiff 

and the Class sustained damages and other losses in an amount to be determine at trial. LG’s conduct 

damaged Plaintiff and the Class, who are entitled to recover actual damages, consequential damages, 
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specific performance, diminution in value, costs, including statutory attorney fees, and/or other relief 

as deemed appropriate. 

COUNT IV 
VIOLATION OF THE CONSUMER LEGAL REMEDIES ACT (“CLRA”) 

(Civil Code §§ 1750, et. seq.) 
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the California Subclass) 

134.  Plaintiff repeats the allegations contained in the paragraphs above as if fully set forth 

herein. 

135. Plaintiff brings this Count individually and on behalf of the California Class.  

136. Plaintiff and the California Class Members are consumers who purchased the Class 

Dishwashers for personal, family, or household purposes.  Accordingly, Plaintiff and the California 

Class Members are “consumers” as that term is defined by the CLRA in Cal. Civ. Code § 1761(d).  

Plaintiff and the California Class Members are not sophisticated experts with independent knowledge 

of the manufacturing and design of the Class Dishwashers.  

137. At all relevant times, LG’s Class Dishwashers constituted “goods” as that term is 

defined in Cal. Civ. Code § 1761(a). 

138. At all relevant times, Defendant was a “person” as that term is defined in Civ. Code 

§ 1761(c). 

139. At all relevant times, Plaintiff’s purchase of LG Class Dishwashers, and the purchases 

of other Class and Subclass members, constituted “transactions” as that term is defined in Cal. Civ. 

Code § 1761(e).  Defendant’s actions, representations, and conduct have violated, and continue to 

violate the CLRA, because they extend to transactions that intended to result, or which have resulted 

in, the sale of goods to consumers.   

140. The policies, acts, and practices described in this Complaint were intended to and did 

result in the sale of LG Class Dishwashers to Plaintiff and the Class.  Defendant’s practices, acts, 

policies, and course of conduct violated the CLRA §1750 et seq. as described above. 
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141. Defendant represented that LG Class Dishwashers have sponsorship, approval, 

characteristics, uses, benefits, or quantities which they do not have in violation of Cal. Civ. Code 

§ 1770(a)(5).   

142. Defendant represented that the Products were of a particular standard, quality, and 

grade, when they were of another, in violation of California Civil Code § 1770(a)(7). 

143. Defendant violated California Civil Code §§ 1770(a)(5) and (a)(7) by representing 

that LG Class Dishwashers were effective at being high-quality, durable, and energy-efficient 

products despite the fact that the Control panel has inherent Defects rendering the Products neither 

effective nor energy-efficient. 

144. Defendant represented that LG Class Dishwashers were of a particular standard or 

quality when Defendant was aware that they were of another in violation of § 1770(a)(7) of the 

CLRA.  Defendant maintained that the Products were high-quality, durable and energy-efficient 

when in fact they were not.   

145. Defendant advertised LG Class Dishwashers with the intent not to sell them as 

advertised in violation of § 1770(a)(9) of the CLRA.  Defendant did not intend to sell LG Class 

Dishwashers as advertised because they knew that the Control Panel Defect would cause the Products 

to be inefficient in terms of both dishwashing and energy consumption.   

146. Plaintiff and the California Class Members suffered injuries caused by Defendant’s 

misrepresentations because: (a) Plaintiff and the Class Members would not have purchased LG Class 

Dishwashers if they had known the true facts; (b) Plaintiff and the Class paid a price for the Products 

due to LG’s misrepresentations of the Class Dishwashers; and (c) LG Class Dishwashers did not 

have the level of quality, effectiveness, or value as promised. 
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147. Prior to the filing of this Complaint, a CLRA notice letter was served on Defendant 

which complies in all respects with California Civil Code § 1782(a).  The letter was sent on March 

10, 2022.  Defendant undertook no remedial action after receiving the letter.  

148. Plaintiff seeks all available relief under the CLRA. 

COUNT V 
VIOLATION OF THE FALSE ADVERTISING LAW 

(Business & Professions Code §§17500 et seq.) 
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the California Subclass) 

149. Plaintiff repeats the allegations contained in the paragraphs above as if fully set forth 

herein. 

150. Plaintiff brings this Count on behalf of the California Class. 

151. California’s FAL (Bus. & Prof. Code §§17500, et seq.) makes it “unlawful for any 

person to make or disseminate or cause to be made or disseminated before the public in this state, . . 

. in any advertising device . . . or in any other manner or means whatever, including over the Internet, 

any statement, concerning . . . personal property or services, professional or otherwise, or 

performance or disposition thereof, which is untrue or misleading and which is known, or which by 

the exercise of reasonable care should be known, to be untrue or misleading.” 

152. Throughout the Class Period, Defendant committed acts of false advertising, as 

defined by the FAL, by using false and misleading statements to promote the sale of LG Class 

Dishwashers, as described above, and including, but not limited to, that the Products leave dishes 

“virtually spotless[,]” that the products have “stellar drying and stain removal abilities”19 and are 

among the most energy efficiency dishwashers available in the marketplace. Indeed, LG uniformly 

marketed each and every Class Dishwasher as “among the most energy-efficient in [their] class” and 

 
19 Dishwashers, LG, https://www.lg.com/us/dishwashers (last visited February 22, 2022). 
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utilizing “energy- and water-saving features … [that] help reduce your energy and water 

consumption.”20 

153. Defendant knew or should have known through the exercise of reasonable care that 

their statements were untrue and misleading. 

154. Defendant’s actions in violation of the FAL were false and misleading such that the 

general public is and was likely to be deceived. 

155. As a direct and proximate result of these acts, consumers have been and are being 

harmed.  Plaintiff and members of the Class have suffered injury and actual out-of-pocket losses as 

a result of Defendant’s FAL violation because: (a) Plaintiff and the Class would not have purchased  

LG Class Dishwashers if they had known the true facts regarding the effectiveness and contents of 

the products; (b) Plaintiff and the Class paid a price due to the misrepresentations of LG Class 

Dishwashers; and (c) Class Dishwashers did not have the promised quality, effectiveness, or value. 

156. Plaintiff brings this action pursuant to Bus. & Prof. Code § 17535 for injunctive relief 

to enjoin the practices described herein and to require Defendant to issue corrective disclosures to 

consumers. Plaintiff and the California Class are therefore entitled to: (a) an order requiring 

Defendant to cease the acts of unfair competition alleged herein; (b) full restitution of all monies 

paid to Defendant as a result of their deceptive practices; (c) interest at the highest rate allowable by 

law; and (d) the payment of Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to, inter alia, California 

Code of Civil Procedure §1021.5. 

COUNT VI 
VIOLATION OF THE “UNLAWFUL PRONG” OF THE UNFAIR COMPETITION LAW 

(Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 et seq.) 
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the California Subclass) 

 
20 Coming Soon: Top Control Dishwasher with QuadWash™ and EasyRack™ Plus, LG, 
https://web.archive.org/web/20170525074839/https:/www.lg.com/us/dishwashers/lg-LDP6797BB-
top-control- dishwasher (last visited February 22, 2022). 
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157. Plaintiff repeats the allegations contained in the paragraphs above as if fully set forth 

herein. 

158. Plaintiff brings this Count on behalf of the California Class. 

159. The UCL, Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq., provides, in pertinent part: “Unfair 

competition shall mean and include unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business practices and unfair, 

deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising ….”  The UCL also provides for injunctive relief and 

restitution for UCL violations.  

160.  “By proscribing any unlawful business practice, section 17200 borrows violations of 

other laws and treats them as unlawful practices that the UCL makes independently actionable.”  Cel-

Tech Communications, Inc. v. Los Angeles Cellular Telephone Co., 20 Cal. 4th 163, 180 (1999) 

(citations and internal quotation marks omitted).    

161. Virtually any law or regulation – federal or state, statutory, or common law – can 

serve as a predicate for an UCL “unlawful” violation.  Klein v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc., 202 Cal. App. 

4th 1342, 1383 (2012). 

162. Defendant violated the “unlawful prong” by violating the CLRA and the FAL, as well 

as by breaching express and implied warranties as described herein.   

163. As a direct and proximate result of these acts, consumers have been and are being 

harmed.  Plaintiff and members of the Class have suffered injury and actual out-of-pocket losses as 

a result of Defendant’s UCL “unlawful prong” violation because: (a) Plaintiff and the Class would 

not have purchased LG Class Dishwashers if they had known the true facts regarding the 

effectiveness and contents of the products; (b) Plaintiff and the Class paid a price due to the 

misrepresentations of LG Class Dishwashers; and (c) LG Class Dishwashers did not have the 

promised quality, effectiveness, or value.  

164. Plaintiff and the California Class seek all available relief under the UCL. 
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COUNT VII 
VIOLATION OF THE “FRAUDULENT PRONG” OF THE UNFAIR COMPETITION 

LAW (Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 et seq.) 
(On behalf of Plaintiff and the California Subclass) 

165. Plaintiff repeats the allegations contained in the paragraphs above as if fully set forth 

herein. 

166. Plaintiff brings this Count on behalf of the California Class. 

167. The UCL, Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq., provides, in pertinent part: “Unfair 

competition shall mean and include unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business practices and unfair, 

deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising ….” 

168. Defendant’s conduct, described herein, violated the “fraudulent” prong of the UCL 

because Defendant represented that LG Class Dishwashers would fulfill their ordinary and intended 

purpose, when, in fact, they do not.  As described above, Defendant misrepresented that the LG Class 

Dishwashers leave dishes “virtually spotless[,]” have “stellar drying and stellar drying and stain 

removal abilities”21 and are “among the most energy-efficient in [their] class” utilizing "energy- and 

water-saving features … [that] help reduce your energy and water consumption.”22   

169. Plaintiff and the California Class Members are not sophisticated experts with 

independent knowledge of the manufacturing and design of the Class Dishwashers, and they acted 

reasonably when they purchased Defendant’s Products based on their belief that Defendant’s 

representations were true.   

170. Defendant knew or should have known, through the exercise of reasonable care, that 

their representations about the Products were untrue and misleading.   

 
21 Dishwashers, LG, https://www.lg.com/us/dishwashers (last visited February 22, 2022). 
22 Coming Soon: Top Control Dishwasher with QuadWash™ and EasyRack™ Plus, LG, 
https://web.archive.org/web/20170525074839/https:/www.lg.com/us/dishwashers/lg-LDP6797BB-
top-control- dishwasher (last visited February 22, 2022). 
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171. As a direct and proximate result of these acts, consumers have been and are being 

harmed.  Plaintiff and members of the Class have suffered injury and actual out-of-pocket losses as 

a result of Defendant’s UCL “fraudulent prong” violation because: (a) Plaintiff and the Class would 

not have purchased LG Class Dishwashers if they had known the true facts regarding the 

effectiveness and contents of the Products; (b) Plaintiff and the Class paid a price due to the 

misrepresentations of LG Class Dishwashers; and (c) LG Class Dishwashers did not have the 

promised quality, effectiveness, or value. 

172. Plaintiff and the California Class seek all available relief under the UCL. 

COUNT VIII 
VIOLATION OF THE “UNFAIR PRONG” OF THE UNFAIR COMPETITION LAW 

(Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 et seq.) 
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the California Subclass) 

173. Plaintiff repeats the allegations contained in the paragraphs above as if fully set forth 

herein. 

174. Plaintiff brings this Count on behalf of the California Class. 

175. The UCL, Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq., provides, in pertinent part: “Unfair 

competition shall mean and include unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business practices and unfair, 

deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising ….” 

176. Defendant’s misrepresentations and other conduct, described herein, violated the 

“unfair” prong of the UCL in that their conduct is substantially injurious to consumers, offends public 

policy, and is immoral, unethical, oppressive, and unscrupulous, as the gravity of the conduct 

outweighs any alleged benefits.  Defendant’s conduct is unfair in that the harm to Plaintiff and the 

Class arising from Defendant’s conduct outweighs the utility, if any, of those practices. 

177. Defendant’s practices as described herein are of no benefit to consumers who are 

tricked into paying high prices for dishwashing- and energy-efficiency.  Defendant’s practices are 

also substantially injurious to consumers because, among other reasons, consumers may forego other 
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appliances that are energy-efficient because of their mistaken belief that their Class Dishwashers will 

help reduce their energy-consumption.   

178. As a direct and proximate result of these acts, consumers have been and are being 

harmed.  Plaintiff and members of the Class have suffered injury and actual out-of-pocket losses as 

a result of Defendant’s UCL “unfair prong” violation because: (a) Plaintiff and the Class would not 

have purchased LG Class Dishwashers  if they had known the true facts regarding the effectiveness 

and contents of the products; (b) Plaintiff and the Class paid a price due to the misrepresentations of 

LG Class Dishwashers; and (c) LG Class Dishwashers did not have the promised quality, 

effectiveness, or value. 

179. Plaintiff and the California Class seek all available relief under the UCL. 

 

COUNT IX 
COMMON LAW FRAUD 

(On Behalf of the Nationwide Class, or in the alternative, the California Subclass) 
180. Plaintiff and the Class re-allege and incorporate by reference the allegations contained 

in all preceding paragraphs of this Class Action Complaint as though set forth fully herein. 

181. Defendant made material misstatements of fact to Plaintiff and the Class regarding 

the defective nature of the Class Dishwashers, the performance capacity and longevity of the Class 

Dishwashers. 

182. These misstatements were made by Defendant with knowledge of their falsity, and 

with the intent that Plaintiff and the Class would rely upon them. 

183. As described herein, Defendant fraudulently sold the Class Dishwashers with the 

Control Panel Defect, then published a TSB to correct this Control Panel Defect only to certified 

sellers, not consumers. 

184. At the time Defendant made these misrepresentations and omissions, and at the time 

Plaintiff and the Class purchased the LG Dishwashers, Plaintiff and the Class were unaware of the 
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falsity of these misrepresentations, and reasonably believed Defendant’s contentions about the high 

quality and long-lasting nature of the Class Dishwashers to be true. 

185. In making these misrepresentations and concealments, Defendant knew they were 

false and that the Class Dishwashers were designed with the Control Panel Defect and intended that 

Plaintiff and the Class would rely upon such misrepresentations. 

186. Plaintiff and the Class did, in fact, rely upon Defendant’s misrepresentations and 

omissions concerning the performance capabilities of the Class Dishwashers, and their longevity as 

a high-quality dishwasher. 

187. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s deceptive, fraudulent, and unfair 

practices, Plaintiff and the Class have suffered an injury in fact and/or actual damages in an amount 

to be determined at trial. 

188. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, demand judgment 

against Defendant for damages and declaratory relief. 

COUNT X 
UNJUST ENRICHMENT 

(On Behalf of the Nationwide Class, or in the alternative, the California Subclass)  
123. Plaintiff hereby re-alleges and incorporates all allegations contained in the preceding 

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

124. To the extent required by law, this count is alleged in the alternative, as permitted 

under F.R.C.P. 8. 

125. Plaintiff and the other members of the Classes conferred benefits on Defendant by 

purchasing the Products. 

126. Defendant has been unjustly enriched in retaining the revenues derived from the 

purchase of the Products by Plaintiff and the other members of the Classes. 
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127. Retention of those monies under these circumstances is unjust and inequitable 

because Defendant misrepresented the Products to consumers, which caused injuries to Plaintiff and 

the other members of the Classes because they would have not purchased the Products if Defendant 

had disclosed that the Products did not function as advertised. 

128. Because Defendant’s retention of the non-gratuitous benefits conferred on them by 

Plaintiff and the other members of the Classes is unjust and inequitable, Defendant must pay 

restitution to Plaintiff and the other members of the Classes for their unjust enrichment, as ordered 

by the Court. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief and judgment, as follows: 

A. Determining that this action is a proper class action; 

B. For an order declaring that LG’s conduct violates the statutes referenced herein;  

C. Awarding compensatory and punitive damages in favor of Plaintiff, members of the 

Class, and the California Class against LG for all damages sustained as a result of the LG’s 

wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon; 

D.  Awarding injunctive relief against LG to prevent LG from continuing their ongoing 

unfair, unconscionable, and/or deceptive acts and practices;  

E. For an order of restitution and/or disgorgement and all other forms of equitable 

monetary relief; 

F. Awarding Plaintiff and members of the Class their reasonable costs and expenses 

incurred in this action, including counsel fees and expert fees; and 

G. Awarding such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all claims so triable in this action. 
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Dated: April 19, 2022   Respectfully submitted, 

 
By:      /s/ Alex R. Straus  

      Alex R. Straus 
 
 
MILBERG COLEMAN BRYSON PHILLIPS 
GROSSMAN, PLLC 
Alex R. Straus (State Bar No. 321366) 
280 S. Beverley Drive 
Beverly Hills, CA 90212 
Telephone: (917) 471-1894 
Facsimile: (310) 496-3176 
E-Mail:  astraus@milberg.com 
 
Gregory F. Coleman* 
Adam A. Edwards* 
MILBERG COLEMAN BRYSON PHILLIPS 
GROSSMAN, PLLC 
800 S. Gay Street, Suite 11000 
Knoxville, Tennessee 37929 
Telephone: (865) 247-0080 
Facsimile: (865) 522-0049 
E-Mail: gcoleman@milberg.com 
E-Mail: aedwards@milberg.com  

 
Mitchell M. Breit* 
MILBERG COLEMAN BRYSON PHILLIPS 
GROSSMAN, PLLC 
405 E. 50th Street 
New York, NY 10023 
Telephone: (212) 594-5300 
Facsimile: (865) 522-0049 
E-Mail:  mbreit@milberg.com  
 
 

       Attorneys for Plaintiff and the Proposed Class 
      *Pro hac vice forthcoming 
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